
Principal Scrutiny Advisor: 
Rebecca Atherton 

0113 37 88642 
 

 

Public Document Pack 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING & COMMUNITIES) 
CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 

 
Consultative Meeting to be held remotely* on 

Friday 20 January at 10.30am 
 
 

 
BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

 
Cllr B Anderson (Chair) - Adel and Wharfedale 
Cllr J Akhtar   - Little London and Woodhouse 
Cllr K Brooks   - Little London and Woodhouse 
Cllr E Carlisle  -  Hunslet and Riverside  
Cllr L Cunningham  - Armley 
Cllr R Finnigan  - Morley North 
Cllr P Grahame  - Crossgates and Whinmoor 
Cllr A Khan   - Burmantofts and Richmond Hill 
Cllr S Lay   - Otley and Yeadon 
Cllr A Maloney  - Beeston and Holbeck 
Cllr T Smith   -  Pudsey 
Cllr J Tudor   - Killingbeck and Seacroft 
Cllr P Wadsworth  -  Guiseley and Rawdon 
Cllr N Walshaw  -  Headingley and Hyde Park 
 

 
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘To 
View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the 
meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting. 
 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing & Communities): 20 January 2023 
 
*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting. While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it 

is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1184&MId=12147


 
B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

2   
 

  INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES 
 
Chair to facilitate introductions and to receive 
apologies.  
 

 

3   
 

  REDUCING GAMBLING HARM 
 
To receive an update on how Leeds City Council 
approaches gambling harm. This responds to the 
recently published document entitled “10 questions 
to ask if you are scrutinising gambling harm” 
produced by the Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny (CfGS) in conjunction with the Gambling 
Commission.   
 
Included in the pack are the following documents: 
 
- Cover Report: Reducing Gambling Harm  

 
- Appendix 1: 10 Questions to Ask If You Are 

Scrutinising Gambling Harm (CfGS in 
conjunction with the Gambling Commission) 

 
- Appendix 2: Reducing Gambling Harms 

Briefing Note 
 
- Background paper: Gambling Regulation 

 

3 - 38 
 

4   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting of the Scrutiny Board 
(Environment, Housing & Communities) will take 
place at 10.30am on 2 February 2023. There will 
be a pre-meeting for all board members at 
10.15am.  
 

 



 
 

 

 

Brief summary 

 

Recommendations 
a) That Scrutiny Board considers the information in the attached Briefing Note. 

  

Gambling Harms 

Date: 20th January 2023 

Report of: Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Susan Duckworth 

Tel: 0113 378 5331 

EHC Scrutiny Board has requested a response to the recent publication from the Centre of 

Governance and Scrutiny “10 Questions to Ask If You Are Scrutinising Gambling Harm”.  This 

document provides 10 key questions that help Scrutiny Board better understand and seek 

oversight on gambling harms in the localities.  This report provides answers to these ten 

questions. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



What is this report about?  

1 This year, the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny, in conjunction with the Gambling 

Commission published a document titled “10 questions to ask if you are scrutinising gambling 

harm”.  As the title alludes to, the document provides ten topic points to consider, but also a 

large amount of information and supplementary questions.  EHC Scrutiny Board have 

requested a report providing information on how Leeds City Council approaches gambling 

harm, based on these ten questions.  This covering report presents a briefing note which 

collates all the current work being undertaken across the council on this matter. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

2 This report gives Scrutiny Board the opportunity to comment on and provide scrutiny of the 

council-wide approach to gambling harm. 

 

How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☐ Inclusive Growth  ☐ Zero Carbon 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

 

3 The briefing note has been compiled by officers from Entertainment Licensing, Financial 

Inclusion and Public Health. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

4 There are no resource implications. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

5 There are no risks associated with this report. 

 

What are the legal implications? 

6 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 

 

Options, timescales and measuring success  

What other options were considered? 

7 This report is a response to a request from EHC Scrutiny.  No other options were considered. 

 

How will success be measured? 

8 Success will be measured by the Briefing Note being considered by Scrutiny Board. 

 

What is the timetable and who will be responsible for implementation? 

9 The Briefing Note is scheduled to be presented to EHC Scrutiny Board in January 2023. 

Wards affected: None specifically 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

 

Page 4



 

Appendices 

 Appendix 1 - “10 questions to ask if you are scrutinising gambling harm”, Centre for 

Governance and Scrutiny 

 Appendix 2 - Briefing Note – Gambling Harms 

 

Background papers 

 Gambling Regulation 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

10 questions to ask if you are 
scrutinising gambling harm 

Written by Kate Grigg & Annette Aiken, CfGS 

Copyright © CfGS 2022 

Permission granted to reproduce for personal and educational use only. Commercial copying, 
hiring, lending is prohibited. 

Appendix 1

Page 7



 

2 
 

About this publication 

This publication is part of a Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) project in partnership with 

the Gambling Commission to raise awareness and increase the involvement of elected members in 

overview and scrutiny roles, in tackling gambling harm. 

The production of this guide has been informed by a series of gambling harm scrutiny inquiry days 

held with personnel from local authorities. 

This also forms part of our wider “10 questions” series, which lays out key issues on which local 

scrutineers (members sitting on scrutiny committees and the officers who support them) can pose 

questions to those with decision-making responsibility.  

 

Contents 

Introduction 

 

3 

How to use these questions 

 

7 

The 10 questions: 

 

 

1. How well does the council understand the scale of gambling harm 

locally, and the impact on communities and council spend? 

8 

2. How does the council recognise gambling harm as a public health issue 

and take a whole-systems approach to tackling it? 

9 

3. How does the council, and its partners, identify and engage with those 

who are most at risk from gambling harm, and what is being done to 

assist the most vulnerable? 

11 

4. How does the council, and its partners, raise awareness of gambling 

harm in the community? 

13 

5. How does the council tackle gambling harm through its licencing policy? 14 

6. How does the council tackle gambling harm through its planning policy? 15 

7. How has the council reviewed its own actions in promoting or 

normalising potentially harmful gambling activities and products?  

17 

8. How is the council supporting and working with relevant public, private 

and civic actors in the area towards integrating gambling harm 

treatment services? 

18 

9. How is gambling harm recognised in the council’s wider commitment to 

reducing inequalities and an equitable post-covid recovery? 

19 

10. How can the council learn lessons from the actions taken by other 

authorities on tackling gambling harms, or from tackling other public 

health issues?  

20 

Further Information and Support        20 

Useful Data and Reports           20  

 

Page 8

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 

3 
 

Introduction 

What is gambling harm? 

Gambling can be an ordinary pastime for many people, but it is associated with addiction and 

harmful outcomes for others. In recent years, gambling harm is a topic that has been at the forefront 

of many Media news items.  

During this time there have been attempts to change legislation, policy and practice. Some change 

initiated by the Gambling Commission, as the Regulator, some by the gambling industry, and some 

by pressure groups.  

At the national level there has been significant inquiry work completed on the issue of gambling 

harm, including a review of the 2005 Gambling Act:  

▪ The House of Lords Special Inquiry Committee on the social and economic impact of the 

gambling industry. 

▪ The All Party Parliamentary Group on Gambling Related Harm  

 

Although many policy decisions regarding gambling are made at a national level in the UK, there 

are clear opportunities to act at local and regional levels to prevent the negative impacts of 

gambling on individuals, families and communities. 

There is no explicit definition of Gambling Harm. However, the Gambling Commission1describes 

gambling harm as the negative impact that participation in gambling might have on an individual, 

family or communities. Gambling harm can manifest in multiple ways, for example, increased 

anxiety and depression, spending more than can be afforded, poor performance at school or work, 

relationship breakdown, criminal behaviour and at worse, suicide. 

Research 2 has shown that gambling has higher negative associations among the heaviest 

gamblers. Heavy gambling is associated with higher financial distress, higher future unemployment, 

lower financial inclusion and planning. Heavy gambling is also associated with negative lifestyle, 

health, wellbeing, and leisure outcomes3. 

Gambling harm is considered a public health issue as policy makers and academics increasingly 

recognise its health harming potential for individuals, communities and for society as a whole.  

Public health issues require different partners working together on the same priorities through a 

whole system response, or place-based approach with a focus on preventing and reducing negative 

impact on health and wellbeing. Other public health issues, such as obesity or alcohol and drug 

addiction, are relatively high profile and well resourced. The comparable harm caused by gambling 

disorder has not received the same attention as other health related behaviours. The harm caused 

by this disorder is only now beginning to be recognised. 

While many individuals gamble without issue, some individuals will experience negative 

consequences as a result of their gambling behaviour. 

 
1 Gambling-related Harm - House of Lords Library (parliament.uk) 
2 The association between gambling and financial, social and health outcomes in big financial data | Nature Human Behaviour 
3 ibid 

 
 

Page 9

https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/406/gambling-industry-committee
http://www.grh-appg.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Interim-APPG-Report-November-final.pdf
https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/lln-2019-0114/
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41562-020-01045-w?utm_source=feedburner&utm_medium=feed&utm_campaign=Feed%3A+nathumbehav%2Frss%2Fcurrent+%28Nature+Human+Behaviour%29
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41562-020-01045-w?utm_source=feedburner&utm_medium=feed&utm_campaign=Feed%3A+nathumbehav%2Frss%2Fcurrent+%28Nature+Human+Behaviour%29


 

4 
 

Gambling behaviour encompasses a broad range of activities, ranging from participating in the 

National Lottery to  participation in casino games, slot machines, and online betting. Gambling 

behaviours occur along a continuum,4 with possible harms dependent on the level of involvement.  

  

 

 

Not only does gambling harm impact individuals’ physical and mental health, relationships, housing, 

and finances; gambling also impacts a range of other people who are connected to those who 

gamble. This might include families, colleagues, and wider local communities. For every gambler 

who experiences harm, between six to ten others may be affected, with a particular impact on the 

immediate family.  

Gambling is often described as a ‘hidden harm’ and in its most extreme form it is recognised as a 

behavioural addiction by the World Health Organisation (WHO) in the International Classification of 

Diseases.  

Gambling disorder is an umbrella term that captures those who have a diagnosable gambling 

addiction as well as those experiencing elevated levels of harm due to their gambling behaviour. A 

professional diagnosis is required and involves several behaviours to confirm diagnosis. 

At risk gamblers refers to people who are at higher risk of experiencing negative effects due to 

their gambling behaviour, but they are not classified as those with a gambling disorder. Anyone who 

gambles is at risk of harm, but evidence suggests that gambling disorder and gambling related 

harms have a disproportionate impact among already vulnerable groups. 

Vulnerable groups include children and young people, people with disabilities, older people, 

certain minority ethnic groups, the unemployed, homeless people, people with financially 

constrained circumstances and those living in deprived areas. These groups might not be able to 

meet their basic needs and might need specific assistance. The elevated impact of gambling harm 

among vulnerable groups, some of whom might already be experiencing multiple deprivation, 

further exacerbates inequality. 

Key facts 

▪ Research from 2020 suggested that there were an estimated 395,000 people with a 

gambling disorder in Great Britain, of which 55,000 are aged 11-165 

▪ There are an estimated 1.8 million at-risk gamblers in Great Britain, who therefore may be 

experiencing some negative consequences.6 

▪ Recent research estimates that 7% of the population identify as being affected by someone 

else’s gambling7 

 
4 Is There a Continuum of Behavioural Dependence in Problem Gambling? Evidence from 15 Years of Australian Prevalence Research | SpringerLink 
5  Gambling regulation: problem gambling and protecting vulnerable people - National Audit Office (NAO) Press release 
6 ibid 
7 gambling-treatment-and-support.pdf (begambleaware.org) 

Individuals can move back and forth along the continuum 

Non gamblers Recreational 
gamblers

At risk 
gamblers

Gambling 
disorder

Page 10

https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases
https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases
https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/gambling-disorder/what-is-gambling-disorder
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/about-us/guide/page/problem-and-at-risk-gambling
https://gsdrc.org/topic-guides/social-protection-2/vulnerable-groups-needs-and-challenges/
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11469-021-00509-y
https://www.nao.org.uk/press-release/gambling-regulation-problem-gambling-and-protecting-vulnerable-people/
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/gambling-treatment-and-support.pdf


 

5 
 

▪ Those with gambling disorder are 15 times more likely to have suicidal thoughts or try to take 

their own life.8 

▪ Licensed gambling has grown by 57% (£4.1 billion) in real terms over the past decade9. 

▪ Industry statistics reported in May 2021 highlight that the total gross gambling yield (GGY) 

was £5.9bn (April- September 2020)10 

 

The impact of COVID-19 

 
The COVID-19 pandemic significantly altered the gambling landscape and accelerated existing 
changes by shifting activity online. This was due, in part, to the lockdown restrictions on people's 
movements, the cancellation of major sporting events and the closure of commercial venues.  
Industry statistics show that between March 2019 and March 2020, the overall number of gambling 
premises decreased by 665 (-6.2%) from 10,793 to 10,128, a 6.2% decrease from the previous 
period11.This is a continuing trend.  
 
Many experts are now examining the impact of the pandemic upon gambling behaviours, alongside 
the increased marketing, availability and accessibility of gambling products, the use of multiple 
products, the time spent gambling and the elevated risk of harms. 
 
Many councils are increasingly concerned about the prevalence of gambling related harm in their 
communities. The pandemic lockdown restrictions pushed gambling further into the online sphere 
has also given rise to increased concern around the vulnerability of those experiencing gambling 
addiction, those at risk, and those in recovery. The growing issue of gambling harms can also be 
considered within the wider commitment to reducing health inequalities and to promoting an 
equitable post-Covid recovery. 
 

What can councils do about gambling harm? 

Both COVID-19 and the increasing prevalence of mental and physical health issues for many 
populations demonstrates the need for places and communities to become more resilient. Gambling 
harm is an issue for every local authority in the UK, both from the perspective of authorities’ 
wellbeing and community leadership role, and their regulatory responsibilities.  

While gambling harm is increasingly recognised as a public health issue, it is not a public health 
responsibility for local authorities. However, all councils have a duty to promote the health and 
wellbeing of the population, and councils that are licensing authorities have a statutory role, under 
the Gambling Act 2005, in the licensing and regulation of gambling premises (non-remote 
gambling). Councils do not have any regulatory responsibilities in relation to remote gambling 
(typically conducted online or by phone). 

All councils have opportunities to prevent gambling harm and support people harmed by gambling 
across a broad spectrum of local services. Because of the wide range of risk factors, preventing 
gambling harm involves councils working with relevant partners, such as the NHS, the voluntary 
sector, mental health services, homelessness and housing services. 

An approach to tackling gambling harm which limits councils to thinking and acting only on their 
conventional duties and responsibilities will not take advantage of these partnership opportunities – 
and is likely to be ineffective. Guidance produced by the Local Government Association and Public 

 
8 Frontiers | Suicide Attempt in Patients with Gambling Disorder—Associations With Comorbidity Including Substance Use Disorders | Psychiatry 
(frontiersin.org) 
9 Gambling regulation: problem gambling and protecting vulnerable people - Public Accounts Committee - House of Commons (parliament.uk) 
10 Industry Statistics - May 2021 - Gambling Commission 
11 Industry_Statistics_November_2021.pdf (ctfassets.net) 

Page 11

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.593533/full
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.593533/full
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmpubacc/134/13406.htm
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/publication/industry-statistics-may-2021
https://assets.ctfassets.net/j16ev64qyf6l/5kppmI7mTc1Rq5OnKbpJAB/d8787d639723d1d38b0618793e978693/Industry_Statistics_November_2021.pdf


 

6 
 

Health England advocate a whole council approach to tackling gambling-related harm12. 
 

What can scrutiny do about gambling harm? 

Scrutiny, as an important part of the local democratic framework, is an ideal way to bring people and 
organisations together with elected members as community representatives to influence better 
approaches and outcomes in local areas and hold democratic leaders accountable for their actions 
in this space.  
 
Scrutiny can play an active role in querying assumptions about the understanding of gambling harm 
locally. Scrutiny is in a unique position to review local policy development and delivery, as well as 
providing influential oversight on local actions and outcomes on gambling harm, for example: 
prevention and education; treatment and support; and integration.  
 
Using their powers to look at any issue that affects people living in local areas, scrutiny members 
can add value to councils’ licencing and public health roles and influence the effectiveness of 
integrated approaches by involving a range of stakeholders to understand and tackle gambling 
harms, for example impacts on families and relationships, finances, employment and health.   

Gambling policy and regulation 

Responsibility for gambling policy and the overall regulatory framework has been held by the 

Department for Digital, Culture, Media, and Sport (DCMS) since 2007. It introduces legislative 

changes where necessary, sets licence fees and has an objective to ensure commercial gambling is 

socially responsible. 

The Gambling Act 2005 sets out the law on gambling in Great Britain. The Act has three licensing 

objectives:  

1. To prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime 

or disorder or being used to support crime. 

2. To ensure gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. 

3. To protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling. 

 

The advice contained within the Act is that local authorities should ‘aim to permit’ licenses so long 

as applications are reasonably consistent with these three licensing objectives. The Gambling 

Commission regulates gambling in partnership with local authorities. While the Commission licenses 

operators at the national level, local authorities license and inspect local gambling premises such as 

betting shops and arcades. All licensing authorities are required to review their Gambling Statement 

of Principles (Gambling Policy) every three years under the Act. 

In the 17 years since the Act was implemented, there have been significant changes in gambling 

behaviours and marketing. The gambling industry is larger and more accessible than it has ever 

been, this growth is mostly due to a significant increase in online and mobile gambling. The 

regulatory environment is also changing, becoming more focused on risk. As such, policy is 

becoming more directed at understanding and mitigating gambling harm, rather than focusing on 

gambling disorder alone. 

 
12 Tackling gambling related harm a whole council approach (local.gov.uk) 

Page 12

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmpubacc/134/13406.htm#:~:text=The%20Department%20for%20Digital%2C%20Culture%2C%20Media%20%26%20Sport,responsible.%204%20Identifying%20and%20responding%20to%20consumer%20harm
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.28%20GUIDANCE%20ON%20PROBLEM%20GAMBLING_07.pdf


 

7 
 

From late 2020 until March 2021, the Government conducted a review of the Gambling Act 2005 13 

The aim of the review was to set out conclusions and any proposals for reform in a white paper 

which is due to be published this year. 

How to use these questions 

This guide sets out 10 key questions that scrutineers can use to better understand and seek 
oversight on gambling harm in their localities. 
 
The guide suggests several questions that scrutiny committees can consider asking decision-
makers, partners and other stakeholders to make sure that local plans and strategies for tackling 
gambling harm are effective. 
 
The questions might not be relevant for all areas, for example there might be different approaches 
between urban and rural areas, between areas with different demographic profiles and between 
areas that are at different stages in understanding and tackling the issue of gambling harm locally. 
 
Our 10 questions are not just questions that might want to be asked in a formal committee 
environment, they can also be asked as scrutineers prepare for an inquiry day, or while carrying out 
task and finish style work. The questions are therefore largely exploratory in nature. They are 
designed to invite further supplementary questions which will depend on local circumstances.  
 
Most importantly, the questions will help scrutiny committees to gain understanding and maintain 
general oversight on the issue of gambling harm – even if they do not carry out formal work; 
informal questioning might help to reassure policy makers that the scale of the problem is 
understood, and action is being undertaken. This assurance can be used to support local authority 
scrutiny work programming processes and helps to build an understanding of gambling harm and its 
impacts into wider work. 
 
More detail on ways of working that scrutiny can adopt in carrying out its work can be found in “The 
good scrutiny guide” (CfGS, 2019). 
 
CfGS has also published a gambling harm case study collection presenting some approaches local 

authorities have already taken through scrutiny. 

  

 
13 Review of the Gambling Act 2005 Terms of Reference and Call for Evidence - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 13

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/?publication=the-good-scrutiny-guide
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/?publication=the-good-scrutiny-guide
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Scrutiny-and-gambling-harms-case-studies.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-the-gambling-act-2005-terms-of-reference-and-call-for-evidence/review-of-the-gambling-act-2005-terms-of-reference-and-call-for-evidence


 

8 
 

1. How well does the council understand the scale of gambling harm 

locally, and the impact on communities and council spend? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ What data is available on gambling harm locally, and what further research 
needs to be undertaken to fill any gaps? 

▪ Is data available by age, ethnicity, gender, postcode, occupation, education 
qualifications or earnings? 

▪ What does the council, its partners and other stakeholders consider are the 
underlying issues driving gambling harm? 

▪ How does the council and frontline service staff screen for gambling harm as 
part of the assessment process? 

▪ What information will help better decision-making, or to communicate the scale 
of the issue more effectively? 

▪ What is the council’s approach for gathering and analysing existing research 
and expertise?  

▪ How can the council establish a benchmark for this data so that evaluation of 
the effectiveness tackling gambling harm can take place?  

 

 

Understanding the scale of gambling harm in local areas, or how it is contributing to demand for 

local services can be a challenge for councils. This is partly because gambling harm is often hidden 

with few visible signs to make it apparent. Gambling disorder is often connected with social stigma 

and therefore not openly discussed or admitted to.  

Compared to other public health issues, many processes are not in place to enable councils and 

their partners to screen for gambling harm to build up an evidence base about the prevalence and 

nature of gambling harm in the local area. These factors all contribute to a low level of 

understanding, which in turn makes it more difficult to raise awareness of gambling harm and 

provide support to those affected. 

Local authorities and the wider public health community would benefit if more locally available data 

was collected on factors such as local gambling spend and the prevalence of gambling harms. 

GambleAware publishes maps indicating the severity of gambling harms and demand for gambling 

treatment services across the country at local authority and ward-level.14However, this data is not 

intended to produce an accurate figure for each locality, but rather to give estimates to provide a 

sense of how prevalence is spread across the country in relative terms. 

Scrutiny members are well placed to query and test the current understanding of gambling harm in 

the local area. Questioning the evidence base on local harmful gambling, the impact of problem 

gambling on individuals, families and communities, and the cost of this to the council (and 

potentially other public services) can provide significant value in the shaping of current and future 

policy. One key area for scrutiny to explore is identifying if the council’s own services screen for 

gambling harm as part of their assessment processes - especially in relation to services that support 

vulnerable groups – and how that information is used. 

 

 

 
14 GambleAware GB Maps | BeGambleAware 

Page 14

https://www.begambleaware.org/gambleaware-gb-maps


 

9 
 

Case Study: Devon County Council 

 

Although Devon County Council is not a licensing authority or responsible for the direct 
oversight of gambling establishments, councillors had expressed concern about the 
impacts of gambling in their communities and were keen to explore its wider societal and 
economic consequences.  

The Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee asked for 
Public Health to report on the issue - the report outlined that Devon’s seasonal tourism; 
high house prices and low wages has caused pockets of deprivation putting certain 
groups at risk to gambling harms. Following this a scrutiny review was undertaken15. This 
review reflected the importance of the issue from a public health perspective and resulted 
in outcomes aimed at a greater understanding of the problem by collaborating on insight 
and intelligence with partners. Recommendations included:  

▪ recording the instances of people encountering council services who identify as 
having a gambling problem. 

▪ sharing information to enable the creation of area maps which highlight areas of 
concern to inform planning or resource allocation. 

 

 

2. How does the council recognise gambling harm as a public health issue 

and take a whole-system approach to tackling it? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ Is there a local gambling harms strategy or plan, with specific actions to raise 
awareness and facilitate prevention? 

▪ How is the approach to tackling gambling harm aligned in council policies, 
plans and strategies? 

▪ How will responsibility and accountability for action on gambling harm be 
managed? 

▪ Is there a clear plan on how staff from all departments are involved in helping 
the council tackle gambling harm? 

▪ Is there an outline for how cross-party working will be organised and how it will 
feed into the process, to make action on gambling harm long-term? 

▪ Does the council have a cabinet lead or committed governance process driving 
your council’s response to gambling harm?  

▪ Does the council’s JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs Assessment) reflect data 
available on gambling harm?  

▪ How prominent is the issue of gambling harm in your JSNA? Is it presented in 
a way that is useful to other local agencies? 
 

 

Many councils are concerned about gambling harm, although the current financial environment 

places constraints on gambling being prioritised among existing issues. Due to the lack of locally 

available data previously mentioned, it is difficult for councils to identify the communities within their 

 
15 Appendix 1: Terms of reference template (devon.gov.uk) 

Page 15

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/documents/s21558/Gambling%20Spotlight%20Report.pdf


 

10 
 

population who are most at risk of harm, develop effective prevention policy and strategies, and 

make the case for prioritising action. 

Although gambling harm is considered a public health issue, it is not a public health responsibility 

(unlike smoking cessation initiatives, alcohol and drug misuse services, sexual health services and 

interventions to tackle obesity). Tackling harmful gambling has been mentioned as an action in the 

NHS Long-Term Plan 16 and while local authorities do not have a specific duty to provide treatment 

for gambling harm, the wider community and health impacts of harmful gambling means that 

responsibility lies with the whole council.  

It is likely that council services will regularly encounter people who experience harm from gambling. 

These include in the following services: 

▪ Children’s services and adult social care, where problem gambling may be a contributory 

factor to family breakdown or domestic abuse. 

▪ Drug and alcohol treatment services, given high rates of co-morbidity between these 

addictions and gambling addiction. 

▪ Housing services, given that problem gambling can be a contributory factor in rent arrears. 

▪ Homelessness services, given the high prevalence of problem gambling among the 

homeless population. 

▪ Financial inclusion services, given that problem gambling can be a contributory factor in 

financial problems. 

 

Scrutiny can add value by challenging the council on how it is taking responsibility for gambling 

harm across its various service areas and asking if it is being positioned as a public health issue. 

Public health issues require a whole-systems approach to prevent harm and provide effective 

support. This whole systems approach includes tackling gambling harms as a council commitment 

at all levels by including it in strategic plans, with meaningful outcome measures, and 

communicating this to partners.  

A whole-systems, or place-based, approach also involves the need for collaboration not only across 

departments and portfolio areas within the council but also across other local services such as 

primary care and those in the third sector to identify the need and actions for prevention and 

treatment. Identifying an organisational lead on harmful gambling at member or officer level can 

help drive work on raising the profile of the issue and developing a whole-systems approach to 

gambling harm.  

Case Study: Bradford Metropolitan District Council 

 
In 2019 Bradford’s Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommended forming a 
cross-departmental organisational plan involving key partners from public health, 
children’s care and adult social care focusing specifically on potential populations that 
could be deemed to be at risk of gambling harm. Scrutiny also recommended organising a 
cross-sector group conference to examine the issue of harmful gambling in the Bradford 
district and to explore local solutions17. 
 

 

Scrutiny can ask how the approach to tackling gambling harm is being embedded and aligned 

across council policies, plans and strategies. This includes: the Council Plan, the Statement of 

 
16 NHS Long Term Plan v1.2 August 2019 
17 Bradford Council - Agenda item - GAMBLING IN THE BRADFORD DISTRICT (moderngov.co.uk) 

Page 16

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=11906


 

11 
 

Principles, the Local Plan, the Community Safety Plan, the Suicide Prevention Strategy, the 

Homelessness Reduction and Rough Sleeper Strategy, the Financial Inclusion Strategy, the 

Domestic Violence Strategy, the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA). 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) analyse the health needs of populations to inform and 

guide commissioning of health, well-being, and social care services within local authority areas. The 

JSNA process helps identify current and future needs, leading to agreed priorities to improve 

outcomes and reduce health inequalities. 

Case Study: Wakefield Council 

 
In 2018 Wakefield’s Overview and Scrutiny Management Board established a working 
group to understand the risks gambling poses to the district, particularly to vulnerable 
groups and young people and to identify what measures were available to the council to 
mitigate these risks.18 
 
The JSNA for Wakefield19 now clearly highlights harmful gambling as one lifestyle factor 
that negatively impacts the health and well-being needs of residents. The JSNA outlines 
the local data on gambling and the challenges it poses for the area to inform local groups, 
organisations, and commissioners of the local context. 
 

 

3. How does the council, and its partners, identify and engage with those 

who are most at risk from gambling harm, and what is being done to 

assist the most vulnerable? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ Which groups or individuals are likely to be most at risk from gambling harm? 
▪ What are the key issues for these different at-risk groups arising from the data? 
▪ How does the council involve those affected by gambling harm in the process 

of developing this evidence base? 
▪ Is the council prioritising actions to address the driving causes behind harmful 

gambling? 
▪ How are the most vulnerable groups able to influence the council’s policies on 

reducing gambling harm?  
▪ How does the council engage experts by experience to review and co-produce 

local gambling harm strategies? 
 

 

Under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005, children and vulnerable people are singled  

out for special regulatory attention. However, identifying who is vulnerable and the reasons why, 

needs to be subject to further inquiry. There are likely to be multiple and complex risk factors for 

harm, and several cross-cutting themes, such as social isolation and dependency on others, which 

help explain why some groups are vulnerable to harm.  

 
18 4-APPENDIX 1 Terms of Reference.pdf (wakefield.gov.uk) 
19 Gambling (wakefieldjsna.co.uk) 

Page 17

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents
http://mg.wakefield.gov.uk/documents/s94706/4-APPENDIX%201%20Terms%20of%20Reference.pdf
http://www.wakefieldjsna.co.uk/adults-2/lifestyle-factors/gambling/


 

12 
 

Scrutiny is well placed to test whether the council, and its partners, have understood these risk 

factors, how they interrelate, and the implications for different groups. 

Case Study: Westminster City Council and Manchester City Council: 

 
In 2015 Westminster and Manchester City Councils commissioned research to explore 
the concept of area vulnerability to gambling related harm20. The research involved 
identifying which groups in society are vulnerable to gambling related harm. Whilst not all 
individuals with certain characteristics will experience harm, data suggested they might 
have elevated risk of harm, and thus be more vulnerable. 
 
The research found evidence to support suggestions that the following groups are 
potentially more vulnerable to gambling harm: young people, those with substance abuse, 
excessive alcohol consumption, poorer mental health, those living in deprived areas, from 
certain ethnic groups, those with low IQs, those with certain personality traits and those 
who are unemployed. 
 
For both local authorities the research used a wide range of datasets to map at the lowest 
possible geographic scale where risk of gambling harm may be greatest, based on the 
types of people who live in each area and the types of services offered which might attract 
vulnerable people to those locations. 
 

 

People with lived experience of gambling-related harms are critical to understanding and raising 

awareness of the issues, identifying research priorities, informing policy, and in the designing of 

harm minimisation programmes. Through the involvement of experts by experience, as with other 

public health issues, the underlying causes of harmful gambling can be better understood. 

Prevention and support initiatives can then be better designed.  

Scrutiny can ask how those most at-risk from gambling harm, or those who have been affected by 

gambling harm, have been involved in refining and developing actions to be taken. Listening and 

understanding the experiences of those affected can also ensure that scrutiny reviews take account 

of local voices and perspectives – placing those at risk at the centre of a review. 

Case Study: Greater Manchester Combined Authority: 

 
In Greater Manchester Combined Authority, the Gambling Harm Reduction Programme 
is working in partnership with GamFam and GamLEARN to ensure that the voices of those 
with lived experience are central to their strategy, to help reduce gambling related harm in 
Greater Manchester. 21This strategy involves producing resources and engagement tools 
that communicate insights from those with lived experience. This allows these tools to be 
used to raise awareness and to inform action. 
 

 

 

 
20 Gambling research | Westminster City Council 
21 Involving local people and communities - Greater Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk) 

Page 18

https://gamfam.org.uk/
https://www.gamlearn.org.uk/
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/licensing/licensing-policy-and-strategy/gambling-research
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/gambling/involving-local-people-and-communities/


 

13 
 

4. How does the council, and its partners, raise awareness of gambling 

harm in the community? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ How is the council promoting programmes aimed at raising awareness of 
gambling harm? 

▪ How can the council seek to influence schools to enhance the quality of 
gambling harm education? 

▪ Which local services provide resources on gambling harm? How can this be 
communicated and disseminated further? 

▪ Is the information produced on gambling harm available in a variety of formats, 
languages, and in locations where those who are considered at-risk are likely 
to be? 

▪ How is the council embedding gambling harm awareness training into frontline 
staff training? 

 

 

Raising awareness of the negative consequences of harmful gambling and particular interventions 

for different at-risk groups are vital. Scrutiny can add value by testing the current initiatives in place 

and by encouraging the council, and its partners to increase awareness raising through its various 

services and communication activities.   

One opportunity for awareness raising is to increase education of gambling and its potential harms 
among young people. For example, a public awareness campaign could include a guide to 
gambling harm for parents and school pupils, alongside the inclusion of content on gambling harms, 
resilience, and well-being in educational programmes. There is also a role for general awareness-
raising of gambling harms locally with residents; including tackling the stigma associated with it. 
 
Case Study: Leicester City Council: 
 

 
In Leicester City Council, a Scrutiny Review on the Impact of Gambling on Vulnerable 
Communities the Executive recognised that the report provided a valuable evidence 
resource on the effects of gambling in Leicester and can be used to promote the council’s 
position on tackling gambling harm. 
 
Other awareness raising impacts of the scrutiny report included recommendations leading 
to the council’s Education and Children’s Services Department supporting an education 
programme for secondary schools around gambling as part of the PSHE and Citizenship 
curriculum.22 
 

 
Several council services, that problem gamblers might access, are likely to be general services 
which offer support for some of the harms or health conditions which have been linked to gambling, 
for example, alcohol services and debt services, however these services might not deal with 
gambling-specific support. It is often due to low awareness of the issue, among staff, that councils 
do not have the relevant tools and knowledge in place to enable screening for harmful gambling.  
 

 
22 (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Neighbourhood Services and Community Involvement Scrutiny Commission, 22/03/2017 17:30 (leicester.gov.uk) 

Page 19

https://cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/documents/g7526/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2022-Mar-2017%2017.30%20Neighbourhood%20Services%20and%20Community%20Involvement%20.pdf?T=10


 

14 
 

Training on the early detection of gambling harms can be beneficial for council staff who encounter 

groups that are at-risk. These groups include people who are experiencing problems with housing, 

poverty, or domestic abuse, as well as people with mental health problems or alcohol and 

substance misuse issues. 

Case Study; Leeds City Council: 

 
In 2016 Leeds City Council commissioned research on the prevalence of gambling in the 
city. The research identified a lack of awareness among council staff and partner 
organisations about the issue of harmful gambling, and a need for staff in a range of 
services to be more familiar with the issue. 
 
As a result of the research, Leeds City Council has instituted a programme of training for 
frontline staff, as well as a series of strategic briefings both internally and externally23.  
 
Building on this work, council officers from Children’s Services, Public Health and  
the Financial Inclusion Team are working with Leeds Community Gambling Service  
and the Young Gamblers and Gamers Trust (YGAM) to develop a communications 
campaign and to raise awareness of the issue with young people24. 

 

 

5. How does the council tackle gambling harm through its licencing 

policy? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ Does the council’s Statement of Principles reflect local needs, priorities, and 
aspirations to prevent and reduce gambling harms, framed in the context of the 
wider strategic priorities of the council? 

▪ Has the council developed a LAP (Local Area Profile) highlighting areas of 
higher risk of gambling harm to inform the development of its approach to 
licencing gambling premises?  

▪ Has the council mapped gambling premises in the local area against Indices of 
Multiple Deprivation? 

▪ Is a focus on public health incorporated into the council’s Statement of 
Principles? 

▪ How can the council give communities a greater say in the licensing process 
for gambling premises? 

▪ Has the council clearly set out its expectations of operator local risk 
assessments? 

▪ Has the council developed and shared with operators its approach to 
compliance and enforcement? 
 

 
Licensing authorities have a statutory role to regulate local gambling premises and can use a range 
of tools to support the prevention of gambling harm. Under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities are required to develop, consult on, and publish a ‘Statement of Principles’ (also known 
as their gambling policy) every three years that sets out the principles they propose to apply in 

 
23 Problem-Gambling-Report.pdf (leeds.gov.uk) 
24 Corporate report template for committee and officer decisions (leeds.gov.uk) 

Page 20

https://www.ygam.org/about/
https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Problem-Gambling-Report.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s214092/Item%208%20-%20Child%20Poverty%20scrutiny%20update.pdf


 

15 
 

exercising their functions. This policy also sets out the expectations of gambling businesses to be 
used when undertaking compliance visits. 
 
Licencing teams can also help tackle gambling harms through mapping to understand local risk – 
developing a Local Area Profile (LAP) to sit alongside the gambling policy can identify parts of the 
local area where there may be a greater or specific risks of gambling harm. 
 
LAPs should help the local authority to understand the cumulative impact of harm from gambling on 
the community and what risks this might pose to the licensing objectives, in particular “to protect 
children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling”. 
 
Scrutiny can ask how the council’s approach to licencing gambling premises incorporates an 
understanding of at-risk communities, its objectives, and its expectations for operators in reducing 
gambling harms. Scrutiny can also highlight the importance of establishing an evidence base, 
knowing the characteristics of the local area and what impact a premises could have on those 
vulnerable to harm. 
 
Case Studies: Tower Hamlets Council and Gateshead Council 
 

 
In Tower Hamlets the council has adopted a gambling policy which restricts opening of 
new gambling premises near schools, hospitals, resident homes for the elderly and near 
any venues where a Gamblers Anonymous meeting is held. 
 
It states it will take the local area profile into account and will pay particular attention to 
applications where the proximity of the premises to vulnerable groups is likely to present a 
risk to the third licencing objective of consumer protection25 
 
In Gateshead the Communities and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee was asked 
to consider the responses to the consultation on the draft Gambling Statement of  
Principles for 2019 – 2022 and how the draft policy should be amended26. 
 
Examples of scrutiny’s comments included: 
 

▪ Recommending wider consultation with partners and the community on the draft 
gambling policy and establishing robust mechanisms to ensure a continuing 
dialogue with those who may wish to comment on gambling. 

 
▪ Recommending premises have a specific training programme for staff to ensure  

that they can identify children and other vulnerable people, and  
take appropriate action to ensure they are not able to access the premises. 

 

 

 
6. How does the council tackle gambling harm through its planning 

policy? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

 
25 Appendix One Gambling_Policy_2016-19v6 (towerhamlets.gov.uk) 
26 OSC Report 29 October 2018.pdf (gateshead.gov.uk) 

Page 21

https://www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk/
https://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s158448/9.1d%20Appendix%204%20-%20Statement.Gambling.Policy.2019-2022formattedv1.pdf
https://democracy.gateshead.gov.uk/documents/s17694/OSC%20Report%2029%20October%202018.pdf


 

16 
 

▪ Does the council’s Local Plan include policies relating to gambling premises? 
▪ Has the council considered developing a cumulative impact policy to prevent 

any further clustering of local licensed gambling premises? 
▪ Does the council have a robust evidence base to include restrictions on new 

applications for betting shops? 
▪ Has the council ensured that licensing and planning policies share a common 

approach to new premises for gambling? 
▪ Is the council providing enough accessible and affordable recreational activities 

as an alternative to gambling within communities? 
 

 

Planning can have significant influence over the wellbeing of residents, in achieving inclusive and 

safe places, and enabling healthy lifestyles - as recognised in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (paragraph 92c)27  

There is very strong evidence available to demonstrate that through the clustering of gambling 

premises in areas of greater deprivation, the built environment can lead to increased risk of 

gambling harms28. Betting shops and adult gaming centres can have negative impacts where there 

are high concentrations of these uses - this particularly relates to the impacts on vitality and viability, 

character, function and amenity of retail areas; and also, the impact upon health and wellbeing, 

including increasing levels of harmful gambling.  

To refuse new planning applications, councils need to have valid planning grounds linking to the 

council’s local planning policy and development plan. As with licensing statements, planning 

decisions are stronger if they are linked back to evidence-based criteria explicitly set out in Local 

Plans. 

There are several supplementary planning documents (SPDs) and information notes which add 

more detailed guidance to policies in councils’ Local Plan. The council can use accompanying SPDs 

to set out guidance on how the development of uses with the potential to cause harm to health and 

wellbeing should be controlled within a local area – this can include the consideration of gambling 

premises.  

Scrutiny can seek to better understand how the objectives of the council’s planning policy might 
align with wider council actions on tackling gambling harm. For example, exploring if senior officers 
responsible for planning and licencing need to meet to consider the consequences of licensing and 
planning policies on each other, or testing if there is evidence to suggest that the location of 
gambling premises might have an impact on vulnerable people. 
 
Case Study: Islington Council 
 

 
In 2020 Islington’s Local Plan29 included a policy to address the challenges identified in 
the borough associated with obesity and harmful gambling. The policy was designed to 
avoid concentrations of fast food and gambling premises, which can increase adverse 
impacts, and to help achieve the delivery of healthy places.  
 
Policy R8 in the Local Plan aims to limit any negative impacts associated with clustering, 
specifically by applying quantitative restrictions on betting shops in certain areas. The 
council was able to do this by providing a strong evidence base and looking at the impact  

 
27 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities - National Planning Policy Framework - Guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
28 Geography of gambling premises (bristol.ac.uk) 
29 20200212sd22retailleisureandservicescultureandvisitoraccommodationtopicpaper.pdf (islington.gov.uk) 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-promoting-healthy-and-safe-communities
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/geography/pfrc/Geography%20of%20gambling%20premises.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/-/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/planningandbuildingcontrol/publicity/publicconsultation/20192020/20200212sd22retailleisureandservicescultureandvisitoraccommodationtopicpaper.pdf


 

17 
 

that clustering of certain types of businesses has on its vulnerable residents and viability 
of town centres. 
 

 

7. How has the council reviewed its own actions in promoting or 

normalising potentially harmful gambling activities and products?  

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ How is the council working with local businesses and organisations to 
encourage limiting the exposure to gambling advertising for young and 
vulnerable people? 

▪ Does the council, or its partners, advertise products or brands that promote or 
normalise potentially harmful gambling activity? 

▪ How does the council engage and provide support to its own staff who may be 
at risk of or experiencing gambling related harm? 
 

 

Local authorities are central to reducing the impacts of gambling harm through better decisions in 

considering how gambling products are promoted and advertised in the local area.  

As a precautionary principle the volume, concentration and content of gambling  

advertising children, young people and vulnerable groups are exposed to should be  

reduced. There is potential for the council to engage with local businesses and organisations to limit 

this kind of exposure to gambling advertising, for example at local sporting premises and events.  

The council could, by maximising existing mechanisms and resources, undertake promotional 

activity to promote safe gambling and reduce harm in the community. The council itself should also 

consider if it advertises products or brands that promote or normalise potentially harmful gambling 

activity on council owned platforms or premises. 

Councils could introduce policies on advertising across settings over which they have control. This 

would ensure that public advertising spaces are only used to promote healthy products and habits. 

Where council’s do not control the setting, but have some financial stake, they could seek to 

influence Contracts. Any loss of income resulting from this could arguably be offset by health and 

social benefits to the local community. 

Scrutiny can investigate if the council, or its partners, advertise harmful gambling activities or 

products on publicly owned sites, and test if the promotional messages on these sites align with 

council priorities and commitments to residents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

18 
 

Case Study: Bristol City Council 

 
In Bristol, the council's recently announced action on banning harmful advertising. The 
draft Advertising and Sponsorship policy went to scrutiny who said it would benefit from 
being more challenging and having greater specificity around the categories that would be 
unacceptable. This input influenced the final scope in banning council advertising that 
promoted gambling, junk food, and high polluting vehicles (amongst others).30 
 

 

8. How is the council working with relevant local partners towards 

integrating gambling harm prevention and treatment services? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ What gambling harm prevention and treatment services are available for 
residents in the local area? 

▪ Which services are most effective? How are these services used by different 
groups? 

▪ Can the council be assured that people are aware of the support available and 
are referred or able to access services? 

▪ How does the council signpost to these partners and where are the gaps in 
existing networks? 

▪ How are services structured and is there scope to rationalise and improve 
patient pathways through better integration and collaboration despite different 
funding streams? 

▪ How does the council work with partners and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
to develop a coherent approach to harmful gambling? 

▪ How are mental health service providers identifying gambling harm and 
providing access to specialist support, particularly for young people presenting 
through child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS)? 

▪ How is the council working with neighbouring authorities (including combined 
authorities, where relevant) to implement joint approaches and leverage 
additional funding? 
 

 

Not all councils have the power to directly deliver on all necessary actions related to tackling 

gambling harm, but all councils can exercise their ‘convening power’ and promote change through 

influence and encouragement. For the council to make significant progress in tackling gambling 

harm there must be a clear strategy to work with a range of organisations. 

There is a central coordinating role for the council to play with health and care services working 

alongside the voluntary and community sector. Placing treatment provision for gambling harm on an 

equal footing with other more established addiction services and ensuring that those in need of help 

can more easily and readily access a clear treatment pathway is vital. 

GambleAware’s Annual Treatment Statistics for 2020/2021 31indicate that 90% of those accessing 

treatment and support from the current system self-refer. This suggests that signposting and referral 

routes need to be strengthened, both between providers in the gambling-specific services provided 

 
30 ModernGov - bristol.gov.uk 
31 GambleAware publishes 2020/21 National Gambling Treatment Service Annual Statistics | BeGambleAware 

Page 24

https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=8591
https://www.begambleaware.org/news/gambleaware-publishes-202021-national-gambling-treatment-service-annual-statistics


 

19 
 

by BeGambleAware and the NHS, but also with the wider network of organisations who encounter 

people who might have gambling disorder, for instance the police, social care and the probation 

service. 

Case Study: Stockton-on-Tees Council 

 
In Stockton-on- Tees a 2018 scrutiny review on gambling by the Adult Social Care and 
Health Select Committee32 found that there were a range of advice and support 
organisations already in place, however there was a lack of awareness on gambling, 
screening for gambling harm, and limited cross referral pathways. As part of their review 
scrutiny recommended that: 
 

▪ Awareness of gambling-related harms, and available treatment and support 
organisations, be promoted within the council and NHS partners. 

▪ The council, NHS partners and the VCS, further develop referral pathways to 
gambling treatment providers where appropriate. 

 

 

9. How is gambling harm recognised in the council’s wider commitment 

to reducing inequalities and an equitable post-covid recovery? 

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ What role is the council playing in including gambling harm within its 
commitments to reduce health inequalities? 

▪ How has the scale of gambling harm locally been impacted as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic? 

▪ How will an understanding of the impacts of gambling harm be incorporated 
within the council’s general approach to equalities in the future? 

 

 
In many local areas gambling harm has become an issue of increasing concern during the 
pandemic. COVID-19 has increased national awareness of health inequalities and the need for a 
public health response; therefore, it is essential that the role of gambling harms is considered in 
plans to address these. Implementing strategies and interventions that will improve the resilience of 
vulnerable people and communities – especially where these groups might incorporate those with 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
Evidence suggests that the distribution of gambling-related harm can be unequal and  
reflects health inequalities as some groups (for example, those living in more deprived areas  
and those facing economic uncertainty) display greater risk of harm from engagement in  
gambling33. Interventions that rely on individuals to use their personal resources to address 
significant public health issues are also least likely to be effective, and more likely to deepen 
inequities. 
 
The impacts of the pandemic on gambling activity and behaviour is part of an ongoing trend in the 
gambling industry. There has been a steady decline in the number of betting shops  

 
32 EIT Review of Mental Health Services Final Report (stockton.gov.uk) 
33 Gambling and public health: we need policy action to prevent harm | The BMJ 

Page 25

https://www.begambleaware.org/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/part/2/chapter/1
http://www.egenda.stockton.gov.uk/aksstockton/images/att34982.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/365/bmj.l1807


 

20 
 

In recent years and the closure of premises which happened during the pandemic will likely 
exacerbate this further. It will be important to now look at which premises remain post- pandemic 
and where these are in relation to vulnerable groups. 
 
A growing challenge following a decline in the number of betting shops is the increase in online 
gambling - which goes beyond the local authority licencing role and is very difficult to monitor. 
Reports received by the Gambling Commission displayed an increase in online activity around slots, 
poker, casino gaming and virtual sports, following the cancellation of most live sport and the closure 
of all land-based gambling premises during the pandemic. The growth in online gambling has been 
accompanied by trends demonstrating significant increases in gambling amongst those who were 
already most engaged alongside increases in the duration of online gambling sessions.34  
 
Scrutiny can challenge the council about how it factors in gambling harms into the wider 
determinants of health and health outcomes, and by considering available local data scrutiny can 
test pre-pandemic assumptions with emerging trends. Scrutiny can also proactively contact the 
Director of Public Health as part of their annual work programme planning process, to understand 
which areas of local health outcomes are especially affected by inequality and how gambling harm 
interrelates to these.  
 
 

10. How can the council learn lessons from the actions taken locally to 

tackle other public health issues?  

 
 

Suggested supplementary questions: 
 

▪ Does the council have a clear picture of “what works” with tackling other public 
health issues locally?  

▪ How does the council collaborate and share learning on public health issues 
with the voluntary and community sector or NHS bodies? 

▪ What lessons about engaging with patients and vulnerable people can be 
learned from other public health issues? 

▪ What lessons around partnership working has the council learned from other 
public health issues? 

▪ How could progress in tackling gambling harm link to other improved outcomes 
in other public health issues? 

▪ How can the council secure additional funds or pool resources to take forward 
actions on tackling gambling harm in a financially constrained environment? 

 

 

As with any public health issue, reducing harm is often complex and involves a ‘whole systems’ 

approach. To inform the approach that councils can take with tackling gambling harms, there is 

value in scrutiny looking at how other public health issues have been addressed locally.  

There is an opportunity to draw on local approaches to mental health and drug and alcohol  

treatment services or suicide prevention services in co-designing integrated, inclusive, patient-

centred services that meet the needs and aspirations of local people and their families experiencing 

gambling harms. Councils can consider the transferrable learning from other commodities with the 

potential to harm such as alcohol and tobacco, in using health intelligence for advocacy to influence 

media and policy debates. 

 
34 Gambling business data on gambling during Covid-19 March 2022 (published May 2022) - Gambling Commission 

Page 26

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/publication/gambling-business-data-on-gambling-during-covid-19-may-2022


 

21 
 

Scrutiny can identify good practice and evidence-based approaches that councils have taken with 

other public health issues to consider its application to gambling harms.  

Scrutiny can assess how councils develop a commissioning approach with the voluntary and 

community sector to tackle other public health issues.  

Scrutiny also offers the opportunity to assess some of the wider, more holistic aspects of gambling 

harms and share learning with other local authority functions in areas such as education, housing, 

social care and public health.  

 

Previous scrutiny: 
 

▪ Has the topic of gambling harm been explored by scrutiny – or by scrutiny in 
neighbouring councils – recently?  

▪ Did this take a narrow or broad focus? 
▪ What were the findings, recommendations, and planned actions? 
▪ What changes and improvements have been made? 

 

 

 

Further Information and Support: 

▪ BeGamble Aware: Provides, guidance, information and support for the public and 
professionals. 

▪ GamAnon UK: Gam-Anon is a fellowship of men and women who are husbands, wives, 
partners, relatives or close friends of someone with a gambling problem. 

▪ Gamcare: The leading UK provider of free information, advice and support for anyone 
harmed by gambling. 

▪ The Gambling Commission: The regulator for most types of gambling in the United Kingdom. 

 

Useful Data and Reports:  

▪ Office for National Statistics: Provides a range of gambling related information 
▪ Statistica : Provides gambling- related statistics. 

 

Page 27

https://www.begambleaware.org/
http://gamanon.org.uk/
https://www.gamcare.org.uk/
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
https://www.statista.com/topics/3400/gambling-industry-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Briefing Note 
 
Gambling Harm Reduction 
 

 
 
This briefing note has been produced on request from EHC Scrutiny Board in response to a 
publication from Centre of Governance and Scrutiny in partnership with the Gambling Commission 
titled “10 questions to ask if you are scrutinising gambling harm”.  As well as providing the ten 
questions and several supplementary questions, this document also provides valuable background 
information for each question topic.   
 
Leeds City Council (LCC) takes the issue of gambling harm very seriously.  The measures and 
provisions described in the responses to the ten questions have allowed the council to lead in this 
area, and the first step of which was commissioning research into identifying those vulnerable to 
gambling harm.  This research provided the catalyst for further work, including supporting local 
treatment services, providing education on interventions for front line staff with support 
organisations, running marketing campaigns to publicise support services (Beat the Odds), undertake 
further research through school surveys to understand children’s experience with gambling and so 
on.  
 
Background 
 
In 2016, LCC commissioned Leeds Beckett University to undertake research into ‘problem gambling’ 
in Leeds. This was due to the lack of research available nationally in this area and the need to 
establish a baseline of gambling harm in the city to understand the impact of land-based and online 
gambling on the local population. The research provided useful insight and identified that Leeds is 
likely to have around twice the national average ‘problem gamblers’ (people experiencing severe 
gambling harm) and that there was insufficient gambling treatment available in the city. This 
research was the starting point for the council to take a partnership approach to tackling harmful 
gambling in Leeds, through working with the NHS Northern Gambling Service, GamCare and 
Northeast Council on Addictions (NECA) to establish a local treatment offer.   
 
As part of this work, the Leeds Gambling Harms Group was established, bringing together key 
partners in the city, including advice services, universities, treatment service and Council services. 
This partnership collectively delivers projects that address gambling harms across a range of key 
areas.  
 
Question 1: How well does the council understand the scale of gambling harm locally, and the 
impact on communities and council spend?  
 
In 2016 LCC commissioned Leeds Beckett University to undertake research into problem gambling in 
Leeds (Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and Wardle, 2016).  This research 
focussed specifically on gambling harm in Leeds and established that Leeds and areas like Leeds are 
broadly likely to have problem gambling rates at double the national average. The research also 
looked specifically at identifying groups in society that could be considered vulnerable to, or at 
higher risk of, problem gambling.  The aim was to provide a baseline and guide funding of projects to 
prevent and mitigate adverse effects of gambling harms. 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 29

https://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf
https://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf
https://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf


The research highlighted that there are approximately 10,000 ‘problem gamblers’ in Leeds (1.8% of 
the adult population) and a further 30,000 people (5/6% of adult population) who may be at risk of 
harm from gambling. This is around double the national average. The research also highlighted a lack 
of support services in the city.  
 
In addition, the council also collects data in relation to children and young people. There are 
currently four questions in the Leeds ‘My Health, My School’ survey, which is an annual health 
survey aimed at children and young people in primary, secondary and post-16 settings. 
In 2020-21, 24% of secondary pupils reported they had gambled within the last 12 months. Skin 
betting through gaming was highlighted as the most popular type of gambling in this age group (11-
16 years). 
 
Question 2: How does the council recognise gambling harm as a public health issue and take a 
whole-systems approach to tackling it? 
 
Following on from the research undertaken in 2016 the Council’s Financial Inclusion Team and Public 
Health established the Leeds Gambling Harms Group.  This working group looked at how best to 
implement change to mitigate the harm of problem gambling.  This group included officers from all 
relevant part of the council, but also external partners such as Citizens Advice, GamCare, and the 
city’s universities. 
 
LCC Public Health officers set up and led the Yorkshire and Humber Harmful Gambling Working 
Group in 2018.  The coordination of this group transferred to the Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID, formerly known as Public Health England).  LCC officers continue to contribute to 
this group. In 2021, PHE (Y&H) secured a 3-year £800k grant from the Gambling Commission for a 
regional gambling harm reduction programme, which LCC Public Health have played a key role in 
shaping. 
 
Question 3: How does the council, and its partners, identify and engage with those who are most 
at risk from gambling harm, and what is being done to assist the most vulnerable? 
 
As already discussed, the research into problem gambling was the most important tool for 
identifying those groups of people most at risk, and this research informs the work that we, as a 
council, do to mitigate the harms. 
 
Public Health, Financial Inclusion and Licensing colleagues are continuing to work closely with 
GamCare’s Leeds Community Gambling Service (LCGS) and the NHS Northern Gambling Service. 
GamCare is a UK charity which provides information and support to anyone negatively affected by 
gambling.  
 
LCGS and the NHS Service were established in 2019, building on needs identified by the Leeds 
Beckett research and strong partnership work across Leeds and Yorkshire & Humber. Services are 
co-located on LCC premises. Examples of joint working include: 
 

 LCGS Engagement Plan to include outreach in low income, ethnically diverse areas of Leeds. 
Engagement work has taken place in Armley, New Wortley and Harehills, with a particular focus 
on South Asian communities and awareness raising with businesses such as barber shops where 
community members congregate and socialise. 

 In 2022, LCGS started to provide in-reach into Armley Prison, as research suggests that ‘problem 
gamblers’ are 4.4 times more likely to be in prison compared to the general population. 

 Gambling awareness training for students and staff from Colleges and Universities 

Page 30



 Joint communications/campaign messages during Safer Gambling Week and in parallel with 
major sporting events such as Cheltenham Festival and Football World Cup. 

 Work with new gambling premises, such as Merkur Slots in Harehills, as per conditions agreed as 
part of their licensing agreement.   

 
It should be noted that Leeds City Council do not directly commission LCGS, or NHS Northern 
Gambling Service so has less influence on training, treatment, and support provision. The 
commissioners are the national grant-making charity GambleAware and NHS England (part-funding 
for NHS Service only).  However Leeds City Council provides and funds office accommodation for the 
two services including the back office and client facing services being based at Merrion House and 
some Community Hubs. They are co-located with the Financial Inclusion Team. 
 
Financial Inclusion and Public Health officers meet regularly with Leeds Community Gambling Service 
to support their work streams, guide outreach, co-deliver training and raise awareness of their offer 
within the city.  
 
Question 4: How does the council, and its partners, raise awareness of gambling harm in the 
community? 
 
Following the publication of the Leeds Beckett University research, the Leeds Gambling Harms Group 
was set up. This group brings together public and third sector agencies that work collectively on 
tackling gambling harms.  
 
Discussions within the Leeds Gambling Harms Group have led to the following work areas, led by the 
Financial Inclusion Team and Public Health: 
 

 Beat The Odds Marketing and Communications Campaign 

 Training and awareness sessions – both internally and externally 

 Improving the provision of support in the city, with GambleAware providing funding from 2019 
to 2023 for the NHS Northern Gambling Service and Leeds Community Gambling Services which 
is run by GamCare. 

 Developing a regional network for Public Health leads around gambling harms 

 Deliver training and communications around children and young people’s gambling and gaming. 

 Developing internal HR guidance for staff around gambling harms, with an ambition to roll out 
across other organisations in Leeds.  

 
LCC are also working to deliver training and communications around children and young people’s 
gambling and gaming within education settings. Public Health convene a training sub-group, which 
focuses specifically on the children and young people’s workforce, including education providers. To 
date this has been supported by GamCare, the Young Gamers and Gamblers Education Trust (YGAM) 
and the NHS Northern Gambling Service. However, in February 2023 there are plans to deliver a pilot 
‘train the trainer’ programme to targeted schools in Leeds. This will be delivered by the charity 
Gambling with Lives, who are a non-industry funded charity who offer training which incorporates 
the views of those with lived experience and it will be delivered to Personal, Social, Health and 
Economic education (PSHE) leads.  
 
Targeted communications to raise awareness of gambling among children and young people has 
included messaging for Children Mental Health week and the World Cup. Gambling information has 
also been included on the MindMate website for children and young people and a LCC One Minute 
Guide has been created to raise awareness amongst the LCC workforce. 
 

Page 31



Question 5: How does the council tackle gambling harm through its licensing policy? 
 
Licensing of gambling premises is regulated by the Gambling Act 2005.  The legislation provides the 
framework under which premises are licensed, and the basic objectives underpinning the legislation.  
However, the legislation also provides that in exercising their functions, a licensing authority shall 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as the authority think it is in accordance 
with codes of practice, Gambling Commission guidance, that it reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives and in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy.  Notably, in 
these principles the legislation explicitly put the licensing policy fourth in the list of considerations. 
 
Leeds City Council, as the licensing authority for Leeds in respect to premises licences under the 
Gambling Act, does publish a statement of licensing policy.  In this document, gambling harm is 
discussed in detail in the section relating to the objective “Protection of children and vulnerable 
adults” on pages 19 to 24.  The policy describes the research undertaken on behalf of the authority 
into gambling related harm by Leeds Beckett University in 2016 and identifies those persons who are 
vulnerable to gambling harm.  It goes on to provide examples of measures that could be offered by 
applicants to mitigate harm, including: 
 

 Reduced opening hours. 

 Working with local authority and treatment partners in training staff in gambling harm 
prevention. 

 Training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain a sense 
of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of measures to 
detect people who may be vulnerable. 

 Training for staff members which focuses on identifying and providing support to vulnerable 
people 

 Restrict single manning operations (no lone working) due to concerns over timely age 
verification, safety of staff, supervision, ability to comply with company policies on problem 
gambling, and the ability to provide brief interventions. 

 Use of security to minimise risk of disturbances including CCTV, SIA licensed security presence at 
the venue. 

 Outline the amount and content of gambling harms support advertising that should be in the 
premises, including advertising of local treatment support. 

 The level of detail that will be collected in the incident log, including interventions made by staff 
to support customers who are gambling problematically. Define how often this information 
should be shared with the local authority. 

 Provision of leaflets aiding problem gamblers should be available on gambling premises in a 
location that is both prominent and discreet, such as toilets 

 The administration and enforcement of self-exclusion schemes 

 Windows, entrances, and advertisements to be positioned or designed not to entice children or 
vulnerable people. 

 
In addition, it is a requirement for all applicants to complete a local area risk assessment.  This is a 
requirement under the Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice.  The 
authority has provided specific guidance relating to the local area risk assessment which has the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons at its core.   
 
Public Health and Financial Inclusion worked with the licensing authority to develop a mapping tool 
to inform local area risk assessments.  This mapping tool, readily available to all on request, provides 
an indication of cumulative impact through layering of area specific data relating to crime and 

Page 32



disorder, vulnerable children and adults and has been used successful to advise Licensing Committee 
on the area. 
 
However, it must be noted that the number of licence applications received by the licensing 
authority is very low – perhaps one application for a new licence every two years.  Therefore the 
level of impact the licensing authority can achieve through licensing alone is small.  As noted in the 
CFGS publication, the wide availability of remote gambling via phone apps or websites, advertised 
and marketed at every sporting event and on TV and more control and regulation of that 
marketplace is needed. 
 
Question 6: How does the council tackle gambling harm through its planning policy? 
 
In 2015 betting shops, along with pay day loan companies were put into a planning class of their 
own.  This sui generis use class meant that betting shops were no longer able to take over empty 
bank buildings without having to apply for a change of use under the Town and Country Planning 
Act.  This afforded the council more control over the placement of new betting shops on high 
streets.  However since 2017 the change of use applications has been almost entirely the other way, 
with change of use being sought from betting shop (sui generis) to other use classes.  In 2017 there 
were 3 applications to change the use from a betting shop, 1 construction of a new betting shop and 
1 change of use to a betting shop.  Since then there have only been applications changing the use to 
something other than betting (15 applications).  This correlates with a change in the stake and prizes 
of gambling machines which was implemented in 2018.  This change has led to the closure of betting 
shop premises in Leeds. 
 
Question 7: How has the council reviewed its own actions in promoting or normalising potentially 
harmful gambling activities and products? 
 
The Financial Inclusion Team and Public Health have worked together on human resources guidance 
on Gambling Harms, based on good practice developed in Sheffield which will be implemented by 
Leeds City Council. This guidance builds on existing wellbeing initiatives for Leeds City Council 
employees and recognises the council is one of the area’s largest employers. 
 
The guidance aims to support employees who are worried about their own gambling but equally those 
that are impacted by the gambling of someone close to them. Research shows that between 6-10 
other people are impacted for each ‘problem gambler’. This may also include children. 
 
The HR guidance sits alongside other workplace wellbeing guidance and policies, in particular relating 
to alcohol, financial wellbeing, and mental health, as the Public Health England evidence review 
showed that these are strongly correlated with harmful gambling. Men are disproportionately 
affected, particularly those gambling online. There is also (less strong) evidence around the links with 
domestic violence including financial abuse.  
 
The ‘harmful’ gambling terminology has been chosen deliberately, instead of ‘addiction’ and ‘problem 
gambling’, as staff may perceive they do not fit that description and therefore not engage in a 
conversation. The guidance promotes a ‘trigger question’ rather than validated screening tools which 
are generally used by clinicians or gambling support services. 
 
This guidance aims to support both managers, union reps/stewards, staff champions (e.g. Wellbeing 
Champions, Safeguarding Lead Officers, Mental Health First Aiders) and all staff to direct Leeds City 
Council colleagues to the most appropriate support as early as possible, so that they can receive the 

Page 33



appropriate support and ultimately be well at work. This might be those that gamble themselves, or 
those that are the affected by the gambling of someone close to them.  
 
The document provides useful tools to guide conversations with colleagues and outline routes to 
support. We have consulted with HR, Occupational Health, Trade Unions, Adults Social Care senior 
managers (in relation to safeguarding) IT, Payroll, NHS Northern Gambling Service, Leeds Community 
Gambling Service, and people with lived experience of gambling harms, including Council staff to 
ensure that the document is robust and accurately reflects all relevant Council processes. 
 
In addition LCC Corporate Communications have confirmed that the council does not allow the 
promotion of gambling across LCC channels or brands.  The main reason for this is that the council 
cannot be seen to endorse commercial products or services. 
 
Question 8: How is the council supporting and working with relevant public, private and civic 
actors in the area towards integrating gambling harm treatment services? 
 
The Council through Public Health, Financial Inclusion and Entertainment Licensing are continuing to 
work closely with GamCare’s Leeds Community Gambling Service (LCGS) and the NHS Northern 
Gambling Service. GamCare is a UK charity which provides information and support to anyone 
negatively affected by gambling. LCGS and the NHS Service were established in 2019, building on 
needs identified by the Leeds Beckett research and strong partnership work across Leeds. Services 
are co-located on LCC premises. Examples of joint working include: 
 

 LCGS Engagement Plan to include outreach in low income, ethnically diverse areas of Leeds. 
Engagement work has taken place in Armley, New Wortley and Harehills, with a particular focus 
on South Asian communities and awareness raising with businesses such as barber shops where 
community members congregate and socialise. 

 In 2022, LCGS started to provide in-reach into Armley Prison, as research suggests that ‘problem 
gamblers’ are 4.4 times more likely to be in prison compared to the general population. 

 Gambling awareness training for students and staff from Colleges and Universities 

 Joint communications/campaign messages during Safer Gambling Week and in parallel with 
major sporting events such as Cheltenham Festival and Football World Cup. 

 Work with new gambling premises, such as Merkur Slots in Harehills, as per conditions agreed as 
part of their licensing agreement.   

 
Public Health and Financial Inclusion have produced an HR Guidance document on Gambling Harms, 
based on good practice developed in Sheffield, to be implemented by Leeds City Council. The 
guidance builds on existing wellbeing initiatives for LCC employees. 
 
Licensing has updated its Statement of Licensing Policy with reference to groups and communities 
most vulnerable to gambling harms and comorbidity, with the expectation of new premises to 
consider this data as part of local area risk assessments. 
 
Leeds City Council officers are represented on the Association of Directors of Public Health 
(Yorkshire & Humber) Gambling Related Harms ‘Community of Improvement’. PHE (Y&H) have 
secured a 3-year £800k grant from the Gambling Commission for a regional gambling harm 
reduction programme. 
 
 
 

Page 34



Question 9: How is gambling harm recognised in the council’s wider commitment to reducing 
inequalities and an equitable post-covid recovery? 
 
Reducing gambling harm is not formally recognised as a strategic priority for the council in relation 
to reducing inequalities. However, due to its strong correlation with financial difficulty, poor mental 
health, and alcohol misuse in particular, the council may consider gambling harm as an indirect 
contributor to inequalities.  
 
Gambling harm was a concern through the COVID period, especially as support services became 
restricted due to social distancing measures.  Similarly there is concern that gambling participation 
had shifted from land-based premises to online and with that, reduced opportunities for face-to-face 
customer intervention, where identified by the operator(s). 
 
Question 10: How can the council learn lessons from the actions taken by other authorities on 
tackling gambling harms, or from tackling other public health issues?   
 
Council officers were consulted by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny as part of the 
development of the document to which this Briefing Note is responding.  Since the publication of the 
Leeds Beckett research in 2016, council officers have been advising and liaising with other local 
authorities across the country on the Leeds approach to reducing gambling harm.  A recent example 
was that officers advised Barnsley Council, as part of their Scrutiny Inquiry on Gambling Harms and 
Northeast Lincolnshire Council on their marketing campaign.  In addition, officers engage with 
national organisation such as GambleAware and the Gambling Commission on an ad-hoc basis. 
 
Examples of regional and national fora that council officers contribute to include: 
 

 Association of Directors of Public Health (Yorkshire & Humber) Gambling Related Harms 
‘Community of Improvement’ 

 Strategic Steering Group overseeing the 3-year Gambling Commission funded Yorkshire and 
Humber gambling harm reduction programme 

 Local Government Association Licensing Forum 

 Institute of Licensing Northeast Regional meetings and training days 

 Core Cities Licensing Group (with Westminster, Manchester, Birmingham, Brighton and Hove, 
York, Selby) 

 Research advisory groups such as King’s College London’s research into gambling harm ‘trigger 
questions’ used by local authority contact centres in England 

 
Contact details 
 

Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 

Phone:  0113 378 5029 
Website: www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing 
Email:  entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 
Authors:   Susan Duckworth, Grace Lawrenson,  
  Myrte Elbers 

 

Page 35

mailto:entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
BN – Sexual Entertainment Venues  Revised March 2011 

Background Paper  

 

Gambling Regulation 

 
 

Gambling Act 2005 
 
The main piece of primary legislation that controls the regulation of gambling is the Gambling Act 2005.  It 
replaces the Gambling Act 1968 and came into effect in 2007. 
 

Regulators 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 specifies two regulators; the Gambling Commission and the local authority.   
 
The Gambling Commission is the national regulator and licenses businesses and individuals via Operators 
Licences and Personal Licences.  Because of the nature of non-remote gambling, such as that accessed 
online or via a mobile phone, the Gambling Commission licenses all remote betting and gaming. The 
Gambling Commission also set technical standards for all gambling equipment and the rules for games such 
as bingo, poker or roulette.  They investigate licence breaches and have the power to impose fines, known 
as regulatory settlements.  The Gambling Commission is responsible for regulating the National Lottery, 
including scratch cards. 
 
The local authority, also referred to as the licensing authority, issues licences to places, i.e. bricks and 
mortar premises.  It also regulated all non-remote betting and gaming such as betting in shops, gaming 
machines in premises, small prize draws through a range of licences, permits and registrations, for example: 
 

 Gambling Premises Licence – casinos, betting shops, amusement arcades, bingo halls, horse racing 
tracks 

 Various gaming machine and gaming permits – permission to site fruit machines and play poker etc 
in pubs, clubs with various restrictions 

 Small Society Lottery Registration – permission to run prize draws where tickets are sold in advance 
 

Licensing Objectives 
 
The three licensing objectives that underpin the Gambling Act are: 

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or 
disorder, or being used to support crime 

• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling 

 
The first objective is dealt with by the Gambling Commission as all businesses and people are checked when 
making application for links to crime.  They investigate complaints on a national level, for example those 
relating to money laundering. 
 
The second objective is dealt with by a set of licence conditions and codes of practice published by the 
Gambling Commission and applied to operator licences.  These include machine standards and rules of 
games. 
 
Local authorities are mainly concerned with the third objective as this can be locality based.  However each 
operator must abide by the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice which specify requirements around 
social responsibility, and these are regulated by the Gambling Commission. 
 

Page 37



 

Non-remote Licensing Process (Gambling Premises Licence) 
 
This is a straightforward licensing process, which allows people and businesses in the vicinity as well as a 
range of experts to have their opinion heard as to whether a licence should be granted.  It follows a similar 
process to the alcohol licensing regime. 
 

• Make an application 
• 28 day notice period where representations/objections may be submitted.   

• Objections must be relevant, can't consider need. 
• Representations can only be made by specific people 

• No objections = automatic grant 
• Objections = hearing by 3 members of Licensing Committee 
• Granted in perpetuity 

 
However the Gambling Act has very specific wording embodied into it which makes outright refusal very 
difficult: 
 

153 Principles to be applied 
1. In exercising their functions under this Part a licensing authority shall aim to permit the use 

of premises for gambling in so far as the authority think it— 
a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice under section 24, 
b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 

25, 
c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to paragraphs (a) and 

(b)), and 
d) in accordance with the statement published by the authority under section 349 

(subject to paragraphs (a) to (c)). 

 
At hearings, the applicant can bring legal representation and will demonstrate how they comply with a) to 
d) above.  It is generally accepted that the four matters should be considered in the order in which they 
appear in the Act.  The Licensing Authority can attach conditions to a licence providing they are relevant, 
reasonable and proportion.   
 

Permits and Registrations 
 
These are a much lighter touch process, congruent with the nature of this type of gambling. 
 

Gambling Act Review 
 
The Government is reviewing the Gambling Act 2005 to ensure it remains fit for the digital age. A white 
paper was due to be published March 2022 but is now due in the New Year? 
 

Contact details 
 
Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 

Phone:  0113 378 5029 
Website: www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing 
Email:  entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 
Author:   Susan Duckworth 

 

Page 38

mailto:entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Reducing Gambling Harm
	SB230120 App 1 - 10-Questions-to-ask-if-you-are-scrutinising-gambling-harms
	SB230120 App 2 - Gambling Harms Briefing Note
	SB230120 Background Paper - Gambling Regulation


